Q

A Reportl ng Servicefor Environment and Devel opment Negotiations
Onlineat http://www.iisd.ca/linkages/chemical/pops4/

Vol. 15 No. 34

Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development

Monday, 27 March 2000

SUMMARY OF THE FOURTH SESSION OF THE
INTERGOVERNMENTAL NEGOTIATING
COMMITTEE FOR AN INTERNATIONAL
LEGALLY BINDING INSTRUMENT FOR

IMPLEMENTING INTERNATIONAL ACTION ON
CERTAIN PERSISTENT ORGANIC
POLLUTANTS: 20-25 MARCH 2000

The fourth session of the Intergovernmental Negotiating
Committee (INC-4) for an International Legally Binding Instrument
for Implementing International Action on Certain Persistent Organic
Pollutants (POPs) met from 20-25 March 2000, in Bonn, Germany.
Approximately 500 representatives from 121 countries, international
organi zations and non-governmental organizations participated in
INC-4, and continued preparation of an international legally binding
instrument for implementing international action on certain POPs
grouped into three categories: 1) pesticides: aldrin, chlordane, DDT,
dieldrin, endrin, heptachlor, mirex and toxaphene; 2) industrial chemi-
cals: hexachlorobenzene (HCB) and polychlorinated biphenyls
(PCBs); and 3) unintended byproducts: dioxinsand furans.

Contentiousissues at the center of debate at INC-4 were measures
to reduce or eliminate rel eases, technical assistance, and financial
resources and mechanisms. While INC-4 succeeded in drafting arti-
cleson technical assistance and financial resources and mechanisms,
thetext isheavily bracketed and devel oped and devel oping country
positions are deeply divided. Delegates also devoted much timeto
addressing control measures (Article D) and made some headway on
how to handle elimination language, particularly with respect to by-
products. INC-4 also addressed and made progress on articleson:
national implementation plans; listing of substances; information
exchange; publicinformation, awarenessand education; and research,
development and monitoring. INC-4 was unableto allow adequate
timefor discussion of the preambl e, objective and definitions, leaving
these articlesto INC-5.

A BRIEFHISTORY OF THE POPSNEGOTIATIONS

Persistent organic pollutants have attracted international attention
over thelast decade due to agrowing body of scientific evidenceindi-
cating that exposureto very low doses of certain POPs can lead to
cancer, damageto the central and peripheral nervous systems,
diseases of theimmune system, reproductive disorders and interfer-

ence with normal infant and child development. POPs are chemical
substancesthat persist, bioaccumulate and pose arisk of causing
adverse effects to human health and the environment. With the further
evidence of thelong-range transport of these substancesto regions
wherethey have never been used or produced, and the consequent
threats they now pose to the environment worldwide, theinternationa
community has called for urgent global action to reduce and eliminate
their rel ease into the environment.

In 1992, the UN Conference on Environment and Development
(UNCED) adopted Agenda21. Chapter 19 of Agenda 21, “Environ-
mentally Sound Management of Toxic Chemicals Including Preven-
tion of Illegal International Traffic in Toxic and Dangerous Products,”
called for the creation of an Intergovernmental Forum on Chemical
Safety (IFCS). Agenda21 also called for the establishment of the
I nter-Organi zation Programme on the Sound Management of Chemi-
cals (IOMC) to promote coordination among international organiza-
tionsinvolved inimplementing Chapter 19.

In March 1995, the UNEP Governing Council adopted Decision
18/32 inviting the IOMC, the | FCS and the International Programme
on Chemical Safety (IPCS) toinitiate an assessment processregarding
aninitial list of 12 POPs. In responseto thisinvitation, the IFCS
convened the Ad Hoc Working Group on POPs, which developed a
workplan for assessing these substances. The assessmentsincluded
available information on the chemistry, sources, toxicity, environ-
mental dispersion and socioeconomic impacts of the 12 POPs.

INTHISISSUE
A Brief History of the POPs Negotiations . .............. 1
Reportof theMeeting. . ..., 2
GeneralDebate . ... 2
Organizational Matters .. ...............oovunnt. 3
Negotiation of the Draft Convention............... 3
ClosingPlenary . ..., 12
ABrief Analysisof INC-4 .......................... 12
Thingsto Look For BeforeINC-5 .. .................. 14

Thisissue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © <enb@iisd.org> iswritten and edited by Richard Campbell <richard@iisd.org>, Jonathon Hanks <jon.hanks@iiiee.lu.se>, Laura
lvers<laurai @iisd.org>, and LeilaMead <leila@interport.net>. The Digital Editor isAndrei Henry <andrei @iisd.org>. The Editor is Pamela S. Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org>
and the Managing Editor is Langston James Goree V| <kimo@iisd.org> .The Sustaining Donors of the Bulletin are The Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Government
of Canada (through CIDA and DFAIT), the United States (through USAID), the Swiss Agency for Environment, Forests and Landscape (SAEFL), the United Kingdom
Department for I nternational Development (DFID) and the European Commission (DG-ENV). General Support for the Bulletin during 2000 isprovided by thethe German Federal
Ministry of Environment (BMU) and the German Federal Ministry of Development Cooperation (BMZ), the Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Ministry of Environment of
Austria, the Ministries of Foreign Affairsand Environment of Norway, the Ministry of Foreign Affairsand Ministry of Environment of Finland, the Government of Sweden, the
Government of Australia, the United Nations Devel opment Programme (UNDP), the Global Environment Facility (GEF) and BP Amoco. Specific funding for this meeting was
provided by the UNEP Chemicals Secretariat. The Bulletin can be contacted by e-mail at <enb@iisd.org> and at tel: +1-212-644-0204; fax: +1-212-644-0206. |1SD can be
contacted by e-mail at <info@iisd.ca> and at 161 Portage Avenue East, 6th Floor, Winnipeg, Manitoba R3B 0Y 4, Canada. The opinions expressed in the Earth Negotiations
Bulletin are those of the authorsand do not necessarily reflect the views of 11SD and other funders. Excerpts from the Earth Negotiations Bulletin may be used in non-commercial
publications only and only with appropriate academic citation. For permission to use this material in commercial publications, contact the Managing Editor. Electronic versions
of the Bulletin are sent to e-mail distribution listsand can befound on the LinkagesWWW server at http://www.iisd.ca/linkages/. The satelliteimage was taken above Bonn ©2000
TheLiving Earth, Inc. http:/livingearth.com. For information on the Earth Negotiations Bulletin, send e-mail to <enb@iisd.org>.




Monday, 27 March 2000

Vol. 15 No. 34 Page 2

In June 1996, the Ad Hoc Working Group convened ameeting of
expertsin Manila, the Philippines, and concluded that sufficient infor-
mation existed to demonstrate the need for international actionto mini-
mizetherisksfrom the 12 POPs, including aglobal legally binding
instrument. The meeting forwarded arecommendation to the UNEP
Governing Council and the World Health Assembly (WHA) that
immediate international action betaken. In February 1997, the UNEP
Governing Council adopted Decision 19/13C endorsing the conclu-
sions and recommendations of the IFCS. The Governing Council
requested that UNEP, together with relevant international organiza-
tions, prepare for and convene an intergovernmental negotiating
committee (INC) with amandate to devel op, by the end of 2000, an
international legally binding instrument for implementing interna-
tional action, beginning with the 12 specified POPs. Thefirst meeting
of the INC was al so requested to establish an expert group for the
development of science-based criteriaand aprocedure for identifying
additional POPs as candidates for future international action. Alsoin
February 1997, the second meeting of the IFCS decided that the IFCS
Ad Hoc Working Group would continueto assist in preparationsfor the
negotiations.

INC-1: Thefirst session of the Intergovernmental Negotiating
Committee (INC-1) met from 29 June-3 July 1998, in Montreal,
Canada. Delegates from approximately 90 countries, aswell asrepre-
sentatives from UN agencies, non-governmental organizations
(NGOs), intergovernmental organizations (1GOs) and industry, met
with aclear spirit of cooperation, mutual purpose and shared responsi-
bility. INC-1 el ected bureau members, considered its programme of
work, aswell as possible elementsfor inclusion in an international
legally binding instrument, and established the Implementation
Aspects Group (IAG) to addresstechnical and financial assistance.
INC-1 also established the Criteria Expert Group (CEG) as an open-
ended technical working group mandated to el aborate proposalsfor
science-based criteria, and to devel op a procedure for identifying addi-
tional POPs as candidatesfor future international action. INC-1
directed the CEG to incorporate criteria pertaining to persistence,
bi oaccumulation, toxicity and exposurein different regions, taking
into account the potential for regional and global transport, including
di spersion mechanismsfor the atmosphere and the hydrosphere,
migratory species and the need to reflect possibl e influences of marine
transport and tropical climates.

CEG-1: Thefirst session of the Criteria Expert Group (CEG-1)
was held from 26-30 October 1998, in Bangkok, Thailand. Over 100
del egates from approximately 50 countries gathered to consider the
CEG's programme of work. Delegates al so considered the devel op-
ment of aprocedure for identifying additional POPs, including the
information required at different stages of the procedure, and who
would nominate, screen and eval uate a substance as afuture POPs
candidate.

INC-2: Thesecond session of the INC was held from 25-29
January 1999, in Nairobi, Kenya. Discussionswerelargely based ona
Secretariat-prepared outline of an international legally binding instru-
ment. After general discussions on this document, delegates divided
into the |AG and the Negotiating Group (NG). The NG examined the
text of the outline and completed preliminary discussions on: measures
toreduce or eliminate releases of POPsinto the environment; national
implementation plans; information exchange; public information,
awareness and education; and research, devel opment and monitoring.
Thel AG held general discussions on possible capacity-building activi-
tiesrequiring technical and financial assistance. A contact group on
annexes also met to begin placing the 12 POPsinto annexesfor:

prohibited production and use; chemical swith restricted production
and use; and chemical's subject to certain rel ease reporting and rel ease
reduction or elimination measures.

CEG-2: Approximately 140 participantsrepresenting 60 countries
attended the second session of the Criteria Expert Group (CEG-2),
which met from 14-18 June 1999, in Vienna, Austria. The CEG
succeeded in completing itswork in two rather than three sessions, and
proposed aprocedure that providesfor the establishment of areview
committee or committeesto apply screening criteriaand to prepare a
risk profile and risk management eval uation for proposed substances.
The CEG submitted itsrecommendationsto INC-3.

INC-3: Thethird session of the INC met from 6-11 September
1999, in Geneva, Switzerland, and brought together delegatesfrom
120 countries, aswell as representativesfrom UN agencies, NGOs,
|GOs and industry. INC-3 adopted the CEG report and approved the
CEG'srecommendations asabasisfor further negotiation. Inthe NG
delegates made advances on language for articles on measuresto
reduce or eliminate releases, national implementation plans, thelisting
of substancesin annexes, and information exchange. Inthe IAG dele-
gates continued discussions on technical assistance and financial
resources and mechanisms, and many governments and regional
groups submitted draft text for these articles.

REPORT OF THE MEETING

Chair John Buccini (Canada) opened INC-4 on Monday, 20 March
2000, and wel comed del egates. Jirgen Trittin, German Federal
Minister for the Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear
Safety, noted sufficient evidence existsto justify banning new POPs
and urged the chemical industry to rethink its product policy, noting
the highest POPs emissions come from legally produced chemical
products.

Bérbel Dieckman, Mayor of Bonn, encouraged transparency and
open communi cation to guide theweek’sdiscussions and reiterated
Germany'’s offer to locate the future Secretariat in Bonn.

UNEP Executive Director Klaus Topfer urged agreement on elimi-
nating the 12 POPs, stressed that POPs are an exampl e of exporting the
disadvantages of economic growth to developing countries, and high-
lighted the importance of a precautionary approach. He emphasized
theimportance of technical assistance, technology transfer and afinan-
cia mechanism to enable active participation of devel oping countries.

Chair Buccini thenintroduced, and del egates adopted, the provi-
sional agenda (UNEP/POPS/INC.4/1). Hereviewed the decisions,
milestones and meetings since 1995 in addressing POPs, and noted
that INC-4 needsto address all aspects of the convention.

Jm Willis, UNEP Chemicals, described intersessional work under-
taken by the Secretariat and rel ated meeting documents. With regard to
ongoing international activities, Willisoverviewed the master list of
actions on the reduction and/or elimination of the rel eases of POPs
(UNEP/POPS/INC.4/INF/5) and highlighted UNEP actions on POPs,
including training and capacity-building workshopson, inter alia,
managing PCB stocks and addressing stocks of obsolete pesticides.

Del egates agreed to continue with the previously accepted Bureau
for INC-4, comprised of: John Buccini (Canada), MariaCristina
CardenasFischer (Colombia), Mir Jafar Ghamieh (Iran), DarkaHamel
(Croatia), and Ephraim Buti Mathebula (South Africa).

GENERAL DEBATE

PORTUGAL, on behalf of the EU, stressed the future convention’s
importance and called for caution asthe guiding principle. TheUS
called for astrong and effective treaty with meaningful controlsand
eliminations. He supported setting realistic goalsfor by-products and
assi sting devel oping countries through existing bilateral and multilat-



Voal. 15 No. 34 Page 3

Monday, 27 March 2000

eral mechanisms. He announced a US$500,000 grant to the GEF/
UNEP regionally-based assessment of persistent toxic substances.
CANADA underlined theimportance of technology innovation, pollu-
tion prevention, and a sound, science-based processthat exercises
precaution in identifying additional POPs. He announced that
CANADA will provide CAN$20 million over the next fiveyearsfor
capacity-building activities. INDIA called for assistance that accom-
modatesthe differencesin priorities and resources among devel oping
countries. JAPAN advocated a science-based risk assessment proce-
durefor listing substancesin the treaty and announced a contribution
of US$150,000 to support INC-4 and INC-5.

CHINA underlined the importance of accessto technology and
financial resourcesto ensure devel oping countries’ participation, and
supported amultilateral funding mechanism similar to that of the
Montreal Protocol. CHILE called for, inter alia, specifictimelimits
and targets depending on countries' stages of development, exchange
of scientific and technical knowledge, and creation of regional centers
and certified laboratories. COLOMBIA called for atransparent finan-
cial mechanism and amechanism to deal with liability and compensa-
tion.

Noting the need to assess theimpact of existing POPs on human
health and the environment, ECUADOR stressed theimportance of
technical and financial assistance for implementing mechanisms
established under the convention. VENEZUELA stressed precau-
tionary measures, technical and financial assistance, technology to
addressrisks and damage, and an instrument that is flexible and adapt-
abletoall countries' needs. Remarking that many devel oping coun-
tries cannot afford existing alternativesto POPs, THAILAND called
for commitment to technical and financial assistance, especially from
exporting countries. SOUTH AFRICA emphasized common but
differentiated responsibilities. IRAN stressed the importance of tech-
nical and financial assistance. The REPUBLIC OF KOREA supported
using existing mechanismsfor technical and financial assistance.
NIGERIA stressed i ntegrating the needs of developing countries and
countrieswith economiesin transition (EIT) in the future POPstreaty.
The RUSSIAN FEDERATION called for aflexibleinstrument to
enable broad participation. CAMEROON supported inclusion of the
Precautionary Principle and aflexible procedure for identifying POPs.
NEPAL drew attention to the problem of illegal entry of banned pesti-
cides.

UNITAR noted progressin the IFCSinitiative to develop aglobal
capacity-building network for chemical s management and highlighted
available guidance and training packages on, inter alia, risk manage-
ment, financial resourcesand planning. The FAO overviewed ongoing
activities on pesticide management. The INUIT CIRCUMPOLAR
CONFERENCE called for financial support through asimple, effec-
tive mechanism. THE INTERNATIONAL POPSELIMINATION
NETWORK'SWOMEN’SWORKING GROUP emphasi zed that
POPs are affecting the mental and physical development of children.

ORGANIZATIONAL MATTERS

Following the opening Plenary, the Implementati on Aspects Group
(IAG) and the Negotiating Group (NG) reconvened, and met through
Wednesday, 22 March. ThelAG, chaired by Maria Cristina Cardenas
Fischer, met in six sessions and addressed technical assistance (Article
J) and financial resources and mechanisms (Article K). The NG,
chaired by John Buccini, met in five sessions and addressed measures
to reduce or eliminate (Article D), national implementation plans
(Article E), listing of substances (Article F), information exchange
(Article G), public information, awareness and education (Article H),
and research, development and monitoring (Articlel). The NG estab-
lished contact groups on by-products and management and disposal of
wastes, and prohibition and restriction. From Thursday, 23 March,

through Saturday, 25 March, delegates met in seven Plenary sessions
to continue discussions on these articles. The Legal Drafting Group,
chaired by Patrick Széll (United Kingdom), met throughout INC-4.

NEGOTIATION OF THE DRAFT CONVENTION

Thefollowingisan article-by-article summary of the negotiations
on the draft convention. Editor’s note: Respecting the confidential
nature of some of the contact group negotiations, the Bulletin does not
use names of countries and/or groupsin parts of this summary.

PREAMBLE (ARTICLE A): On Saturday, Chair Buccini intro-
duced a Chair’s submission on the preamble and suggested it be
included in the draft convention in bracketsto provide abasisfor
discussion at INC-5. Delegates agreed to thisin principle.

OBJECTIVE (ARTICLE B): On Saturday, Chair Buccini
suggested thisarticle remain unwritten, but that INC-4 report acknowl -
edgment that there were anumber of submissionsof text for thearticle.
He suggested the Secretariat prepare acompilation document of these
submissionsfor consideration at INC-5.

DEFINITIONS (ARTICLE C): On Saturday, Chair Buccini
noted that some terms needing definition had been identified and said
defining them would be the task for the legal drafting group.

MEASURESTO REDUCE OR ELIMINATE (ARTICLE D):
Delegates used text, as contained in the INC-3 report (UNEP/POPS/
INC.3/4), asthe basisfor discussion.

Prohibition of the Production and Use of Certain POPs. On
Thursday, the US presented simplified text, on behalf of the EU,
JAPAN, AUSTRALIA,NEW ZEALAND, SWITZERLAND,
CANADA and NORWAY, which, inter alia, addsreferenceto taking
administrative and other measures, in addition to legal measures, and
moves provisions on import and export to abis paragraph addressing
destruction of banned substances. The RUSSIAN FEDERATION, the
GAMBIA, IRAN, KUWAIT, URUGUAY, SAUDI ARABIA,
LESOTHO and others advocated retention of import and export.
KUWAIT and THAILAND called for prohibiting “transit.”

COL OMBIA supported adding language on the prior authorization of
animporting country with respect to export for environmentally sound
destruction. IRAN proposed language on stockpil e destruction within
aterritory and any areaunder aparty'sjurisdiction. Buccini established
acontact group to address prohibition and restriction, co-chaired by
Henk Bouwman (South Africa) and Charles Auer (US).

The contact group met on Thursday and Friday. A number of
proposalswere put forward, but delegates were unableto resolve the
tradeissue with respect to prohibited substances. A group of countries
proposed language on trade with non-parties, however, one delegate
opposed opening debate on theissue and said it had not been addressed
in Plenary. On aproposal addressing stockpiledestructionin territories
and any areaunder a party’sjurisdiction, one delegates said theissue
was addressed under the provision on stockpilesin Article D.

On Saturday, in Plenary, Co-Chair Auer said the group discussed
alternative formulationsfor addressing import and export, which are
included in aproposed text for the provision forwarded by the contact
group. He noted introduction of anon-paper, addressing, inter alia,
trade with non-parties to the future convention, which would be
attached to the Co-Chairs' contact group report.

The EU stressed theimportance of addressing trade between
parties aswell astrade with non-parties. He outlined the EU proposal,
which addresses: import; export before complete prohibition and use
among parties; export after complete prohibition; and export to non-
parties. He regretted that the EU’ s proposal swere not included in the
contact group’s proposed text on procedural grounds, requested the



Monday, 27 March 2000

Vol. 15 No. 34 Page 4

Secretariat to include the proposalsin the compilation of draft articles
of the convention, and insisted theissue be placed on the INC-5
agenda.

The US said the EU wasintroducing anew concept with non-
parties and opposed the proposal to restrict trade with non-parties. He
emphasized theimportance of legitimate accessto chemicalsfor
which there are continuing use and production needsfor public health
and welfare purposes, both before and after countries become parties
to the convention. He proposed an obligation that would provide valu-
ableinformation on the total export and import of POPs.

Buccini said the report of the contact group and all proposed
amendmentswould be included in an annex to the report of the
meeting and would be agood starting point for INC-5.

The draft text reflectslack of consensus asto whether countries
will be obligated to prohibit, or take legal measures necessary to elimi-
nate, production and use of chemicalslistedin Annex A. Referencesto
import and export remainin brackets, asdoes referenceto accessibility
of financial and technical assistance. A bracketed bis paragraph
ensures that once production and use are banned, the chemicals are not
imported or exported except for environmentally sound destruction or
disposal.

Restrictionson the Production and Use of Certain POPs. On
Thursday, the US presented simplified text, on behalf of the EU,
JAPAN, AUSTRALIA,NEW ZEALAND, SWITZERLAND,
CANADA and NORWAY, which, inter alia, addsreferenceto taking
administrative and other measures, in addition to legal measures. The
contact group on prohibition and restriction considered, inter alia,
insertion of text pertaining to reporting aspects of Annex B chemicals,
including periodic reporting to the Secretariat of the quantity produced
and quantity imported. On Saturday, Chair Buccini noted the text
going forward to INC-5 would remain unchanged from that contained
inthereport of INC-3 (UNEP/POPS/INC.3/4).

The draft text requires countriesto take action on use of Annex B
chemicals, but reflectslack of consensus on production of Annex B
chemicals, and whether countrieswill be obligated to prohibit, or take
legal and, in brackets, other measures necessary to eliminate, use of
chemicalslisted in Annex B. Thetext reflectslack of consensuson
“production” of chemicals, which remains bracketed. Referenceto
accessihility of financial and technical assi stance also remains brack-
eted.

AnnexesA (Production) and B (Restriction): On Friday, the
contact group on prohibition and restriction al so addressed the control
annexes. The contact group considered aproposal for DDT entry in
control for Annex B (restriction) and agreed to allow DDT only for
disease vector control. Delegates agreed alternatives should, inter alia,
include both chemical and non-chemical alternativesand “must” pose
lessrisk to the environment and human health than DDT; and be
“comparably cost-effective.” The proposal, included in the contact
group’sreport, allowsfor production and use only for disease vector
control and in accordance with the WHO guidelines on residual house
spraying, and whenlocally effective and affordabl e alternativesare not
availablein aspecific country. The proposal also callsfor promoting,
subject to technical and financial assistance, development of regula-
tory mechanismsto ensure useisrestricted, and research, aswell as
development and implementation of alternatives.

On Saturday, Co-Chair Auer reported on the status of the control
annexes. He said ten chemicalsremainin Annex A, two of which are
also listed in Annex B, and noted updates to the control annexes
regarding country-specific exemptions. He said text wasinserted in
both annexesregarding DDT and PCBs. SOUTH AFRICA added
language to thetext on DDT, which takesinto account the unique
circumstances of DDT, including international recognition of itsuse,

and allowsfor production and use only for disease vector control. Co-
Chair Auer noted need for intersessional work and proposed that the
INC consider having the Secretariat request submissions on country-
specific exemptionsfor production and use, including the basisfor
each exemption, the source of the chemical, and information on
production, import, stockpiles, and if available, on quantity.

Chair Buccini noted that the proposed changes would beincluded
with the contact group’sreport and annexed to the report of the
meeting, but that Annexes A and B, as contained in UNEP/POPS/
INC.3/4, would be forwarded to INC-5 unchanged.

General Exemptions: On Friday, the contact group agreed on
general exemptionsfor laboratory research and for trace contaminants.
One group of countries proposed the following general exemptions:
occurring as constituents of articles manufactured or aready in use;
use as a closed-system intermediate that ischemically transformed in
the manufacture of other chemicals; and substancesthat arein the
possession of an end-user prior to entry into force. A group of coun-
tries opposed these general exemptions. On Saturday, the EU opposed
aseparate articlefor general exemptions and noted thelaboratory scale
research exemption could beincludedin an existing articleor in an
annex and that the exemption for trace contaminants could beincluded
in Annex A or B. He said exemptionsfor articlesin use and closed-
system intermediates should be specific and granted on a case-by-case
basis. He opposed an end-user exemption, noting it could createa
loophole.

Thefinal text on general exemptions remains unchanged from
UNEP/POPS/INC.3/4 and isincluded in the draft negotiating text,
with afootnote stating that | ocation of the articleis still to be deter-
mined. It includes agenera exemption for laboratory scale research.

L ocation of general exemptionsin the convention remains unresolved.

New Chemicals: On Thursday, the EU, with AUSTRALIA,
CANADA, NORWAY andtheUS, presented arevised text on
addressing new chemicals. Thetext, supported by SWITZERLAND,
the CZECH REPUBLIC, NEPAL and VENEZUELA, statesthat each
party having aregulatory and assessment scheme for new pesticides
and industrial chemicals shall take measures within those schemesto,
in brackets, “avoid,” “prevent” and “regulate” production and use of
newly devel oped pesticides and industrial chemicalswhich, taking
into consideration relevant Annex D criteria, exhibit POPs characteris-
tics. VENEZUELA added, in brackets, “prohibit,” and, with NEPAL,
“import” and “export.”

On Saturday, the Plenary agreed to include a provision on new
chemicalsin the convention and to remove the brackets from the para-
graph, whileretaining internal brackets.

By-Products: On Tuesday, 21 March, delegates began debate on
measures to reduce or eliminate rel eases of POPs and used text
forwarded by the Legal Drafting Group as basisfor discussion. Much
of the debate revolved around the degree of commitment by parties
regarding by-products and whether ultimate elimination should bethe
aim. The EU emphasized that the text should reflect along-term polit-
ical commitment to the ultimate elimination of by-products, arguing
that elimination is not the same asreduction to zero. NIGERIA, the
GAMBIA, CHAD, the PHILIPPINES, ZAMBIA, MALAY SIA and
ALGERIA supported an aim of ultimate elimination. TheUSsaid it
understood elimination to mean reduction to zero and said itisan unre-
alisticgoa. The REPUBLIC OF KOREA, CANADA, JAPAN, THAI-
LAND, AUSTRALIA, theRUSSIAN FEDERATION, NEW
ZEALAND, theUSand CANADA opposed the aim of ultimate elimi-
nation. The US proposed including reference to elimination in the
convention’s preamble and objective. JAMAICA, supported by
SOUTH AFRICA and NEPAL, proposed qualifying ultimate elimina-
tion with “whererealizable.” GREENPEACE INTERNATIONAL



Voal. 15 No. 34 Page 5

Monday, 27 March 2000

urged del egatesto appreciate that “the future of the planetisin your
hands.” He expressed alarm at those del egates who opposed elimina-
tion, and suggested that the comments, mainly from JUSCANZ, were
based on political rather than technical considerations.

NORWAY, supported by the EU, ICELAND, SOUTH AFRICA
and MALAY SIA, proposed text promoting the use of availabl e substi-
tute materials, products, techniques and other strategies. NIGERIA
proposed a separate obligatory provision on requiring use of substitute
materials. AUSTRALIA, withthe REPUBLIC OF KOREA, supported
reference to releases derived from anthropogeni ¢ sources.

On best available techniques (BAT), ICELAND preferred refer-
enceto “best available prevention strategies for by-products’ and
provided adetailed definition. Noting that more aggressive action
could betaken on new sources, CANADA urged differentiating
between new and existing sources. NORWAY supported requiring
BAT for al new major sources. JAPAN supported establishing major
sourceinventories, which the COP could possibly identify.
AUSTRALIA supported identifying sourcesin the convention. THAI-
LAND emphasized difficultiesin promoting control measures without
financial commitments, techniques and expertise.

Regarding definition of terms, SOUTH AFRICA, URUGUAY,
ARGENTINA, the RUSSIAN FEDERATION and BRAZIL called for
clarification of the term “by-products.” NEW ZEALAND distin-
guished between “unintentional” and “ unwanted” by-products. Chair
Buccini established acontact group, chaired by Halldor Thorgeirsson
(Iceland), to address: bracketed chapeau language regarding elimina-
tion; proposals on substitute materials; BAT; and Annex C.

The contact group met from Tuesday through Thursday and spent
considerable time on the provision’s chapeau, regarding the aim of
ultimate elimination. Some del egations could not accept an aim of ulti-
mate elimination without qualification. The group decided to base
discussions on a proposal, which included qualifying “ ultimate elimi-
nation” with “wherefeasible.” Many countries agreed that adding a
qualifier to elimination was necessary. Noting lack of clarity on
“feasible,” one developing country proposed elimination should be
“technically and economically feasible.” Others understood the term
“feasible” to include these considerations. It was suggested that the
Legal Drafting Group could examinetheterm “feasible” or language
that would reflect these considerations. A group of countries proposed
language on reducing “total” releases, but others disagreed and said
thiswas ambiguous. No agreement was reached on the chapeau
language.

Regarding material substitution, the group felt the term “ substitu-
tion” unnecessarily limited the avail able management strategiesfor
materials. The group agreed that further elaboration was necessary for
theterms* by-products’ and “ best available techniques.”

On Friday, Plenary heard afinal report from contact group Chair
Thorgeirsson. He said the group did not discuss whether to include
referenceto technical and financial assistance, and reached no
consensus on the chapeau. He noted agreement on using an EU
proposal for Annex C asthe basisfor further discussionsat INC-5,
debate on distingui shing between new and existing sourceswith
respect to BAT application, an EU-submitted definition of BAT, and
disagreement on whether to include alisting of major source catego-
ries. Del egates commented on the results of the contact group.

The SEY CHELLES, the EU, MALI and NEPAL opposed quali-
fying “ ultimate elimination.” CANADA and the RUSSIAN FEDERA-
TION said aqualification was necessary if elimination language was
to be considered. The USand ARGENTINA said they would consider
elimination language with aqualifier. NORWAY and CANADA said
parties should require BAT usefor new sources. The US agreed, onthe
condition that Annex Cinclude alist of major source categories.

AUSTRALIA, the REPUBLIC OF KOREA and ARGENTINA
emphasized that BAT isarelativeterm. NIGERIA recalled her
proposal on material substitution. JAMAICA expressed concern with
the phrases“ by-product,” “ anthropogenic sources’ and “major source
categories.” Buccini noted the need to define these terms, aswell as
BAT.

Thefinal draft text states parties shall at aminimum [aim to] take
measuresto reduce the [total] releases derived from anthropogenic
sources of [each of] the POPslisted in Annex C with the aim of their
continuing minimization. Thetext reflectsthat no consensuswas
reached on whether to include an aim of “ ultimate elimination,”
whether to qualify elimination with “wherefeasible” or whether
further qualification would be necessary with where “technically and
economically feasible.” Thesereferencesremain bracketed, aswell as
reference to implementing measures, consi stent with capacity and
subject the availability of technical and financial assistance. A foot-
note statesthat “total” needsfurther clarification.

Thetext includes control measures and calls for promoting appli-
cation of measuresthat can achieve arealistic and meaningful level of
rel ease reduction and/or source elimination by feasible and practical
means. On control measures, the text statesthat parties shall: promote
development and use of [substitute] materials, products and processes;
and [require] [promote] the use of BAT [and/or other prevention strate-
gies] for new sourceswithin major source categories[identifiedina
listin Annex C] [and for which Annex C specifiesthat BAT exist]
taking into consideration the general guidance on rel ease reduction
measures given in [Annex C] and the guidelineson BAT devel oped by
the COP. Regarding existing sources, reference to other prevention
strategies remains bracketed aswell, as doesreferenceto listing major
source categoriesin Annex C. A provision on national action plansand
elementsto beincluded in such a plan remains bracketed aswell.

M anagement and Disposal of Wastes: On Wednesday, del egates
began discussion of the draft text, which contained aprovision on
management and disposal of wastes and a separate bracketed provision
on destruction of stockpiles and wastes. Regarding managing and
disposal, the US opposed including language on taking action consis-
tent with capacity and subject to the availability of technical and finan-
cial assistance. CHINA, the GAMBIA, IRAN, MALI, the
DOMINICAN REPUBLIC, BURKINA FASO and others supported
retaining thislanguage. SOUTH AFRICA, supported by the
SEY CHELLES, proposed a separate, more general paragraph on tech-
nical and financial assistance. Many countries, including KAZAKH-
STAN, VENEZUELA, SEYCHELLES, INDONESIA, TANZANIA
and SAUDI ARABIA, supported aparagraph on assisting those with
less capacity for cleaning up contaminated sites, managing and
destroying wastes, and i mplementing measures to reduce and/or elimi-
nate releases. JAPAN, the US and CANADA opposed such aprovi-
sion. The EU proposed text which, inter alia: streamlinesthe
provisions on waste and stockpiles; callsfor managing stockpiles,
products, articles and wastesin amanner that protects human health
and the environment; providesfor devel oping inventories of stock-
piles; and del etes reference to technical and financial assistance, the
Basel Convention and assistance for cleanup of contaminated sites.

On destruction of stockpiles, CANADA, AUSTRALIA andtheUS
proposed deleting this provision. The DOMINICAN REPUBLIC and
CHINA noted the need for consistency with the Basel Convention
without affecting therights of non-Parties. The LATIN AMERICAN
PESTICIDES ACTION GROUP urged delegatesto, inter alia, stop
thetransfer of obsolete technologiesfor treatment of stockpiles. Chair
Buccini established a contact group, chaired by Peter Hinchcliffe
(UK), to further consider theseissues.



Monday, 27 March 2000

Vol. 15 No. 34 Page 6

On Thursday, Hinchcliffe introduced the revised text forwarded by
the contact group, which, inter alia, streamlines stockpiles and wastes
into one provision, and, regarding disposal, callsfor consistency with
the Basel Convention, where appropriate.

On Friday, in Plenary, del egates commented on the text forwarded
by the contact group. INDONESIA, VENEZUELA, PAKISTAN and
IRAN called for removing bracketsfrom the referenceto technical and
financial assistance. NORWAY noted that stockpilesare also being
considered under prohibition of production and use, and called for
consistency. On destruction of wastes, ARGENTINA, with the US,
bracketed text on destruction or alteration to reaction productsthat do
not exhibit POPs properties. Many delegations, including NORWAY,
theEU, VENEZUELA, IRAN, INDIA, COLOMBIA, POLAND and
CHINA, supported bracketing reference to the Basel Convention.
COLOMBIA calledfor clear language on wastes specific to the POPs
convention. ARGENTINA, CANADA, NEW ZEALAND andtheUS
supported reference to consistency with the Basel Convention. The
paragraph was bracketed. On identifying contaminated sites, in
response to opposition to qualifying remediation with “if feasible and
practical,” NEW ZEALAND said that requiring remediation may
create aperverseincentive and that parties may be deterred fromiden-
tifying sites. Contact group Chair Hinchcliffe noted varying degrees of
technical feasibility, and said contamination of asite may not only be
from POPs. Delegates agreed to retain the qualifier. The PHILIP-
PINES said parties should be required to devel op strategies for identi-
fying sites. The Legal Drafting Group was instructed to address|egal
implications of referenceto the Basel Convention.

On Saturday, Legal Drafting Group Chair Patrick Széll reported on
the Group’s consideration of the provision’srelationship with the
Basel Convention. He commented that the issue has strong policy
overtones and advised that, given the complexity of theissue, theINC
should request the Secretariat to prepare and circulate an analysisfor
deliberation at INC-5.

Thedraft article provides for control measuresin order to ensure
that stockpiles and wastes, and products and articles upon becoming
wastes, are managed in amanner protective of human health and the
environment. L anguage on undertaking the measures consistent with
capacities and subject to the availability of technical and financial
assistance remains bracketed. These measuresinclude managing
existing stockpiles of Annex A and B chemicalsin acareful and effi-
cient manner; and identifying productsand articlesstill inuse, in
particular stockpiles and wastes. Brackets remain around the provision
on taking measuresto ensure they are handled and stored in an envi-
ronmentally sound manner, and managed so that POPs content is
destroyed or altered to reaction products without POPs characteristics,
or destroyed in amanner consistent with the Basel Convention. The
text alsoincludes aprovision calling on partiesto [endeavor to]
develop appropriate strategies for identifying contaminated sites and,
if remediation of these sitesis considered feasible and practical, to
ensure that such remediation is performed in an environmentally
sound manner. Thetext also statesthat theterms*“ waste,” “disposal,”
and “environmentally sound” shall be defined asinthe Basel Conven-
tion.

NATIONAL IMPLEMENTATION PLANS(ARTICLEE): On
Tuesday, del egates considered the article on national implementation
plans. Many delegations, including TANZANIA, IRAN, LESOTHO,
CHINA, ECUADOR, MALAY SIA and CHILE, supported retaining
language on devel oping national implementation plans (NI Ps) consis-
tent with capabilities, and subject to the accessihility of financial and
technical assistance. COLOMBIA, CANADA, the REPUBLIC OF
KOREA, theUS, ICELAND and VENEZUELA called for consis-
tency between NIPs and the action plansrelating to reduction of by-

products. CANADA remarked that national plans are mandatory and
regional plans supplementary. The GAMBIA proposed referenceto
sub-regional plans. The EU suggested removing the requirement for
regional economic integration organizationsto develop regional
implementation plans.

Many countries suggested that NI1Ps should be devel oped within
oneyear of the convention’sentry into force, while POLAND,
supported by the RUSSIAN FEDERATION, the REPUBLIC OF
MOLDOVA and LESOTHO, supported atwo-year period. Delegates
agreed that the COP should not determinethe plans’ schedule or
format, and deleted referenceto this.

While some del egations, including JAPAN, CANADA, the
REPUBLIC OF KOREA, ICELAND and TANZANIA suggested
parties“may” cooperate with competent international, regional and
sub-regional organizationsin devel oping, updating and implementing
plans, others, including the GAMBIA, MALAY SIA, LESOTHO and
ECUADOR, preferred “shall.” JAMAICA, supported by WHO, added
reference to cooperating with national stakeholders.

On Saturday, Legal Drafting Group Chair Sz€éll presented arevised
draft text. He suggested replacing bracketed reference to the require-
ment to “ cooperate with” stakeholderswith “consult.” Following the
GAMBIA'squery regarding the lack of referenceto therole of women,
Chair Buccini noted that it would beincluded in the record of the
meeting. SOUTH AFRICA recalled its proposal to replace the quali-
fier referring to accessibility to financial and technical assistance, with
“asappropriate.”

Thedraft article statesthat parties shall develop national plans,
with bracketed optionsfor sub-regional or regional plans. Bracketed
optionsare provided for the plansto be completed within one or two
yearsof entry into force. The article callson partiesto cooperate at the
international, regional and sub-regional levelsto facilitate develop-
ment of such plans, with bracketed text relating to consultation with
stakeholders.

LISTING OF SUBSTANCESIN ANNEXESA,BAND C
(ARTICLE F): On Wednesday, del egates discussed listing new
substances. Debate revolved around the Precautionary Principle, use
of theterm “ observer” and the procedure for setting aside a proposal.
The EU, supported by NORWAY, the RUSSIAN FEDERATION and
IRAN, proposed that a decision to set aside a proposal be taken by the
COP. TheUSand AUSTRALIA said the committee should be given
authority to take asuch adecision on rejecting aproposal.

Ontheroleof observers, JAPAN, IRAN and COLOMBIA
requested defining and listing “ observers.” The US proposed devel -
oping language to ensure observer participation, highlighting therole
of industry. COLOMBIA expressed concern with the US'sundue
emphasison industry.

On application of criteria, JAPAN proposed applying screening
criteriain a“ preventative,” rather than a“flexible” manner. Regarding
the Precautionary Principle, NORWAY, the GAMBIA, MALL,
ECUADOR and others supported itsinclusionin thearticle. The EU
agreed with taking a precautionary approach and proposed a separate
paragraph beinserted to reflect this approach. IRAN proposed
including adefinition of the Precautionary Principlein the convention.
The RUSSIAN FEDERATION highlighted the contradiction between
applying the Precautionary Principle and scientific criteria. TheUS
noted no internationally agreed definition of the Precautionary Prin-
cipleexists. The US, the RUSSIAN FEDERATION and JAPAN
preferred areferencein the preamble. CANADA and AUSTRALIA
expressed their support for the concept of aprecautionary “approach,”
but did not support introducing the concept in the article. Highlighting
the dangers of POPs, the SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT



Voal. 15 No. 34 Page 7

Monday, 27 March 2000

POLICY INSTITUTE and the WORLD WIDE FUND FORNATURE
urged del egates to take a precautionary approach in applying criteria
for listing new substances.

On Saturday, Legal Drafting Group Chair Széll reported onthe
Group'swork. He noted two possible types of observer involvement.
On making information availableto observers, he suggested the
Internet could be used as a method of communicating information to
the public at large. On direct involvement of observersinthe provision
of information, he suggested clear indication of who would beinvited
to submit information. ARGENTINA requested deleting referenceto
observers.

Thefinal text contains seven paragraphs outlining the procedure
for adding new chemicals. The procedure statesthat any party may
submit aproposal to the Secretariat for listing a substancein the
annexes on prohibition, restriction and/or by-products and that the
proposal must contain information required by the annex on screening
criteria(Annex D). The Secretariat would then forward the proposal to
the POPsreview committeeif the criteriaare met. On applying criteria
in atransparent and integrative manner, referencesto “flexible” and
“preventative” remain bracketed, as does referenceto the Precau-
tionary Principle. The article also providesfor preparation of arisk
profile, and preparation of arisk management evaluation, including an
analysis of possible control measuresfor the substancein accordance
with the annex on socioeconomic considerations. Thetext statesthat,
based on the risk profile and the risk-management evaluation, the
review committee will recommend whether the substance should be
considered by the COPfor listing under the convention. A provision
statesthat the COP will decide whether to amend Annex A, B and/or C
to list the substance and related control measures. Referencesto
“observers’ remain bracketed throughout the article. An additional bis
paragraph remainsin brackets and statesthat lack of scientific
certainty dueto insufficient relevant scientific information and knowl-
edge regarding a substance shall not prevent the process set out above,
from proceeding and shall not prevent thelisting of substancesin
AnnexesA, B and/or C.

Information Requirementsand Criteriafor the Proposal and
Screening of Proposed POPs (Annex D): In Plenary on Thursday,
delegates discussed the information requirements and screening
criteriathat parties proposing additional POPs areto provide. With
regard to the criteriafor persistence in water, many countries,
including the EU, SWITZERLAND, NORWAY, theRUSSIAN
FEDERATION, POLAND, SOUTH AFRICA, INDONESIA,
MALAYSIA, PAPUA NEW GUINEA and KUWAIT, supported a
half-life greater than two months, whiletheUS, CANADA, INDIA,
MOLDOVA, the REPUBLIC OF KOREA, JAPAN, AUSTRALIA
and others supported a half-lifein water of six months, VENEZUELA
remarked that, in tropical conditions, atwo-month half-life could be
toolong.

On the biocaccumulation criteria, the EU, SWITZERLAND,
NORWAY, theRUSSIAN FEDERATION, POLAND, INDONESIA,
MALAYSIA, PAPUA NEW GUINEA, and KUWAIT supported alog
Kow greater than 4, and the US, CANADA, MOLDOVA, INDIA, the
REPUBLIC OF KOREA, JAPAN, AUSTRALIA and others opposed,
expressing their support for alog Kow greater than 5.

On the adverse effects criteria, the EU called to specify that
evidence be of adverse effect “ on human health and the environment.”
On whether parties proposing POPswould need to providetoxicity
dataand/or other evidence, the EU and INDONESIA preferred “or,”
while AUSTRALIA preferred “and/or.” Delegates agreed to delete
text stating that information on adverse effectswill be considered a
crucia element for the analysis of environmental and health costs.

Oncriteriafor a“ criteriasummary,” the EU proposed that parties
be “encouraged to” submit such a statement, the REPUBLIC OF
KOREA supported “should,” and CANADA, the US, AUSTRALIA
and MOLDOVA preferred “ shall,” with the understanding that this
would be“where possible.” Several countries, including the EU,
CANADA, AUSTRALIA and CAMEROON, suggested alternative
namesfor the summary such asa“rational statement” or "reasonsfor
concern.” Some delegates, including the EU and JAPAN, supported
deleting arequirement for the statement to demonstrate “the need for
global control,” and others, including KUWAIT, CANADA and
AUSTRALIA, opposed. Chair Buccini proposed “ashort statement
indicating the need for global control.”

Thetext of the annex statesthat parties shall provide information
on the substance and itstransformation productsrelating to criteriaon
persistence, bioaccumulation, potential long-range environmental
transport and adverse effects. On persistence, the text contains brack-
eted optionsfor ahalf-lifeinwater of two or six months. With regard to
bioaccumulation in aquatic species, the text callsfor abioaccumul a
tion factor greater than 5,000 or alog Kow greater than, in brackets, 4
or 5. It statesthat "the party proposing POPs[should] [shall] [is
encouraged to] provide a[rational€] or [statement of concern]
including, where possible, acomparison of toxicity or ecotoxicity data
with predicted levels of a substance resulting or anticipated from long-
range environmental transport and [a short statement indicating the
need for global control]." Findly, it statesthe proposing party shall, to
the extent possi ble and taking into account its capabilities, provide
additional information to support the review of the proposal.

Infor mation Requirementsfor the Risk Praofile (Annex E): On
Thursday, POLAND, AUSTRALIA and JAPAN made minor modifi-
cationsto thetext, resulting in“clean” text. There was no further
discussion or debate on thisannex. Annex E detailsinformation
requirementsfor a POPs candidate that hasfulfilled the screening
criteriaand isthe basis of which the POPs review committee prepares
arisk profile to determine whether the candidate should proceed to the
risk management stage.

Infor mation on Socioeconomic Considerations (Annex F): On
Thursday, Chair Buccini remarked that the text on Annex Fis*“clean,”
and del egates did not consider it at INC-4. Annex F detailsinformation
on socioeconomic considerationsto be applied to the eval uation of
control measures for a POPs candidate as part of arisk management
evaluation to determine whether the substance should belisted under
the convention.

INFORMATION EXCHANGE (ARTICLE G): IntheNG on
Wednesday, several countries, including JAPAN, CANADA, theUS,
BRAZIL and the RUSSIAN FEDERATION, supported text reflecting
that information exchange should bein amanner consistent with
national laws, regulationsand practices. Others, including LESOTHO,
KUWAIT, INDONESIA, MALAY SIA and the EU, opposed such text.
IRAN called for language on exchanging information in atransparent
and non-discriminatory manner, and CANADA and the US agreed,
contingent on retaining reference to consistency with national laws.
With regard to cost-effective alternatives, the US, with MALAY SIA,
proposed language on including information relating to risks, aswell
aseconomic and social costs. Several countries, including the
GAMBIA, BURKINA FASO and MALAY SIA, called for deleting the
paragraph on confidential information, but JAPAN and the US
opposed. The RUSSIAN FEDERATION, VENEZUELA and
KUWAIT called for clarity on the scope of “safety” information not to
beregarded as confidential. The GAMBIA, with the ORGANIZA-
TION FOR PROHIBITION OF CHEMICAL WEAPONS, called for



Monday, 27 March 2000

Vol. 15 No. 34 Page 8

clarification that informati on woul d be exchanged through the POPs
national focal point. SOUTH AFRICA asked for clear definition of the
clearing-house mechanism (CHM).

Thetext statesthat each party "shall in a[transparent and non-
discriminatory manner] [manner consistent with their laws, regula-
tions and practices], [create conditions favorableto] [facilitate] or
[undertake] the exchange of information relevant to the reduction or
elimination of the production, use and release of POPs and alterna-
tives, including information relevant to their risksaswell asto their
economic and social costs."

It further statesthat each party shall designate anational focal point
for information exchange and that the Secretariat shall serveasa
clearing-house mechanism for information on POPs, including infor-
mation provided by parties, international organizationsand NGOs. In
brackets, it statesthat "parties shall protect any confidential informa-
tion asmutually agreed, and that for the purposes of the convention,
human and environmental health and [chemical] safety information
shall not beregarded as confidential.

PUBLIC INFORMATION, AWARENESSAND EDUCA-
TION (ARTICLE H): On Tuesday, delegates considered the article
on public information, awareness and education. POLAND, with the
RUSSIAN FEDERATION and INDIA, supported deleting chapeau
language stating that parties’ actions be carried out consistent with
parties capabilities, and the GAMBIA, the REPUBLIC OF KOREA
and BRAZIL opposed. SOUTH AFRICA suggested alternative
language taking into account common but differentiated responsibili-
ties, respective capabilities, and specific national and regional devel-
opment prioritiesand circumstances. JAPAN, with CANADA, the
RUSSIAN FEDERATION, theUS, CHINA, INDIA and BRAZIL,
supported promotion and facilitation of the article’s provisionsin
accordance with national laws and regulations. The US, supported by
URUGUAY, suggested that information be provided if “available,”
and proposed removing bracketed text referring to specific types of
information. The EU proposed astreamlined version of the article,
which includesreference to providing information relevant to the
convention, deletes sub-sections referencing specific types of informa-
tion, and deletesreferenceto “in accordance with national laws and
regulations.” IRAN, with ETHIOPIA, ECUADOR and THAILAND,
expressed concern over the EU’s proposed removal of the sub-
sections. URUGUAY opposed theremoval of a sub-section relating to
the provision of information on POPs by industry and professional
users. CANADA, with ARGENTINA, BRAZIL, ECUADOR,
CHILE, VENEZUELA and THAILAND, called to retain the sub-
section, aswell as“in accordance with national laws and regulations.”
The GAMBIA suggested governments should “ ensure” rather than
“encourage” industry to fulfill the specified obligations, and proposed
reference to women, children, and workers. ARGENTINA recom-
mended retaining referenceto alternative methods and to integrated
pest management (IPM). VENEZUELA emphasized the need for civil
society’s participation and for POPs substitutes.

On Saturday, Legal Drafting Group Chair Szé&l| presented arevised
draft text, which included two optionsfor the article. He requested
clarity on: the scope of the “relevant” information to be provided; the
ambiguity relating to whether information should be provided “on” or
“to” those who produce, use and/or release POPs; and the nature of the
“existing bodies’ that partiesshould use, inter alia, in the development
and implementation of education and training programmes. Recalling
Plenary discussions, the US, the RUSSIAN FEDERATION and
VENEZUELA questioned why the qualifier on providing information
in accordance with national laws and regulations, was bracketed.
Following intervention by the EU in favor of retaining thetext, Chair
Buccini stated that the text remains bracketed. Recalling agreement of

Plenary torefer to “available” information, the USand VENEZUELA
expressed concern that thiswas not reflected in the second option.
SOUTH AFRICA, withthe RUSSIAN FEDERATION, queried the
omission of referenceto specific requirements on therole of industry
and other groups. Széll responded that the Legal Drafting Group had
considered that these elements are covered in the revised text.

Both options of the draft article require partiesto promote and
facilitate the provision of information on POPsto the public, including
information on the assessment of hazard and risk, pollution preven-
tion, risk reduction, economic and social impacts, integrated pest
management, and alternative products and practices, including their
accessihility and rel ative costs and processes. Pending removal of
brackets, both options also require Partiesto “ encourage” or “ensure
that” industry and professional users promote provision of relevant
information; and to promote at theinternational level the devel opment
and exchange of educational and public awareness materials, and
training programmes, on POPs. Thefirst option requires partiesto
promote and facilitate the provision of information on the above activi-
ties.

The second option requires partiesto promote and facilitate, inter
alia; development and implementation of educational and public
awareness programmes on POPs; public participation in relevant fora
that address POPs; training of scientific, educational, technical and
managerial personnel, with bracketed reference to workers; enhancing
awareness among policy-makers; and training on waysto reduce the
effects of POPs.

RESEARCH, DEVELOPMENT AND MONITORING
(ARTICLE I): On Tuesday, delegates considered the article on
research, devel opment and monitoring. The EU proposed streamlining
the article to emphasize key elements, including: chemical and non-
chemical alternatives; monitoring levelsin the environment; effectson
human health and the environment; and social, cultural and economic
factors. POLAND, JAPAN and the RUSSIAN FEDERATION
supported retaining the provision on monitoring and assessing
releases, persistence and long-range transport based on modeling, and
harmonizing or standardizing methodol ogies. The US proposed that
parties shall “encourage” research, development and monitoring, and
that brackets belifted from referencesto IPM, non-chemical aterna-
tives, and harmonization of methodol ogies and techniques. The US
calledfor public availability of research and monitoring results“where
appropriate.” IRAN supported making results publicly “accessible.”
CANADA proposed devel oping a harmonized global monitoring
programme, implemented on aregional basis, to detect changesin
POPs concentrationsin the environment, utilizing existing
programmes as much as possible. COLOMBIA, INDONESIA,
POLAND, the FORMER YUGOSLAV REPUBLIC OF MACE-
DONIA, JAMAICA and the US generally supported such a
programme. The EU questioned the need to establish aformal mecha-
nism, noting the Canadian proposal would be costly. CANADA
responded that the programme constituted alegitimate activity for
capacity building resource allocation.

On Saturday, the Plenary discussed arevised draft text submitted
by Legal Drafting Group Chair Széll, who noted that, with advicefrom
the FAO, “agricultural practices’” had been amended to “good agricul-
ture practices.” To ensure consistency in thetext, referenceto “indige-
nous control” of human disease vectors was changed to “indigenous
knowledge and practices.” Széll proposed deletion of thereferenceto
the control of human disease vectors, since thiswas not an exampl e of
good agricultural practicesas suggested inthetext. Noting problemsin
understanding the requirement to undertake and/or promote research,
development and/or monitoring on methods for evaluating how to use
estimatesto structure future obligations, he proposed del eting the



Voal. 15 No. 34 Page 9

Monday, 27 March 2000

requirement. In discussion onthe Legal Drafting Group draft,
JAMAICA proposed reference to “cultural” knowledge and practices.
CANADA suggested moving the provision on aharmonized global
monitoring system to a separate article on monitoring.

Pending removal of brackets, the draft article states that parties
shall encourage and/or undertake research, devel opment, monitoring
and cooperation on POPs, including on: rel eases, persistencein
different media, long-range transport and deposition levelsand their
modeling; pollutant pathways and inventoriesin representative
ecosystems; effects on human health and the environment; monitoring
levelsin the environment and in humans; best available technologies
and practices; possible alternatives; and levels of the chemicalslisted
in Annexes A, B or C contained as contaminantsin other substances.
Partiesarerequired, inter alia, to support international effortsto
strengthen national scientific and technical research capacities, and
make the results of research and monitoring programmes either
publicly “available” or “accessible;” each of thesetermsis bracketed.

TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE (ARTICLE J): OnMonday, the
| AG commenced discussions on technical assistance based onthe|lAG
Bureau’'s compilation text on technical assistance and financial
resources and mechanisms (UNEP/POPS/INC.4/3).

Regarding a paragraph recognizing technical assistance as essen-
tia to implementation of the convention, and calling on partiesto
cooperateto provide technical assistance, the EU specified technical
assistance“ upon request.” On aparagraph listing types of assistanceto
be provided, the US, supported by CANADA and MICRONESIA,
said thelist should beillustrative, not exhaustive. Delegates agreed to
aCanadian proposal to make the list more action oriented and to cross-
referencerelevant articles. BRAZIL proposed aprovision for assis-
tancein identifying and recovering contaminated sites. On assistance
for training decision makers, managers and personnel responsible for
collecting dataregarding the effect of POPs, CANADA proposed
amending thetext to include data coll ection and analysis required by
its proposed harmonized global monitoring programmeto be estab-
lished under Articlel. The US suggested including the effects of POPs
aternatives.

Regarding assistance for strengthening training and research
capacity at the national and regional level for introducing alternatives
to POPs, the EU specified “identifying and” introducing alternatives.
The US suggested it should be for monitoring POPs rel eases, reducing
the use of POPs, and identifying and devel oping environmentally
sound alternativesto POPs. ZAMBIA proposed amending the US
suggestion to provide for continuous reduction of POPs. SOUTH
AFRICA noted the African Group’s proposal isfor “assistancefor
training and research capacity,” not its“ strengthening.” CANADA
proposed “to devel op and strengthen.”

On Tuesday, delegates considered arevised text. On the paragraph
calling on partiesto provide technical assistance, CAMEROON
stressed including language on devel oping and strengthening infra-
structure. The EU specified “ingtitutional infrastructure.” CAME-
ROON opposed, noting a broader need for infrastructure.

Thel AG agreed on broad chapeau language introducing alist of
types of technical assistance, but did not agree on referencesto assis-
tance being provided by “ developed countries’ or “as mutually
agreed.” Thel AG bracketed text on assistance to compileinventories
and rel ease registers dueto therelated discussionsunder Article D.
The group agreed on assi stance to devel op and implement NI Pstaking
into account national priorities. Regarding assi stance to develop and
strengthen training and research capacity for monitoring POPs
releases, continuously reducing the use of POPs, and identifying,
developing and introducing environmentally sound alternatives,
AUSTRALIA proposed “ maintain effortsto reduce.” The PHILIP-

PINES, with PAKISTAN, preferred language referring to elimination.
CANADA, supported by the US, proposed “ maintaining effortsto
reduce or eliminate use.” The EU supported retention of “ continu-
ously.” CANADA proposed “ maintaining effortsto continuously
reduce or eliminate.” Delegates accepted the Canadian proposal in
brackets.

Regarding assistance to destroy existing stockpiles of obsolete
POPs, the US, supported by the EU, called to bracket text in order to
allow consideration of related initiativesand agreements, including the
Basel Convention. Noting that not all developing countries are Parties
tothe Basel Convention, CAMEROON opposed bracketing the text
and underscored that technical assistance be provided to “identify and”
destroy existing stockpiles. The |AG accepted adding “identify and”
but bracketed the provision, aswell asaprovision on assistanceto
identify and decontaminate sites affected by POPs, pending outcomes
onArticleD. BRAZIL, INDIA and CHINA bracketed assistance to
facilitate private sector involvement.

Regarding assistance to promote access to, and transfer of, clean
and environmentally sound technol ogies, as mutually agreed and in
accordance with national legislation, MICRONESI A supported
deleting the referenceto national legislation. The PHILIPPINES
proposed referring to assistance to promote access to and the transfer
of cleaner and/or ESTs appropriate or suitable under local conditions.
ThelAG agreed to this, excluded the reference to national legislation
and retained “as mutually agreed” in brackets.

On modalitiesfor providing technical assistance, CANADA
proposed draft text for a“ Capacity Assistance Network” (CAN) to
coordinate avail able resources and demand for POPs activities.
AUSTRALIA, SWITZERLAND and NEW ZEALAND supported the
proposal. INDIA called to bracket text within the proposal referring to
private sector involvement. MICRONESIA supported such amecha-
nism, but preferred a CHM capable of providing funds and, with
CAMEROON, suggested anew articleonaCHM.

In Plenary on Thursday, the US said it would remove bracketsfrom
aprovision requiring partiesto cooperate to providetechnical assis-
tance through recognizing the rendering of assistance upon request is
essential to implementing the convention, provided conditionsfor
financial and technical assistance attached to other requirementsin the
convention were removed.

In considering the same provision on Friday, CANADA, with
others, supported removing brackets to encourage removal of condi-
tions of technical and financial assistance attached to obligationsin
other articles. The US supported retaining brackets until such condi-
tionsareremoved. SOUTH AFRICA opposed removal of conditional
languagein other articles. Concerning rendering assi stance “ upon
regquest,” the US proposed, and the Plenary agreed, to substitute“in
response to requests from devel oping parties and partieswith EIT.”
The US agreed to remove the provision’s brackets conditional upon
inclusion of anotein the record indicating theissue can berevisited if
the conditions attached to obligations are not removed.

Regarding the general requirement on partiesto cooperate to
providetechnical assistance for development and strengthening of
ingtitutional infrastructure and capacitiesto implement obligations,
BRAZIL, with CHINA, ETHIOPIA, LESOTHO, COLOMBIA, on
behalf of the Latin American and Caribbean Group (GRULAC), and
MALAY SIA, supported replacing "parties’ with “the devel oped
country parties.” SOUTH AFRICA, LESOTHO, ETHIOPIA,
MALAYSIA, MICRONESIA, THAILAND, the PHILIPPINES,
INDONESIA and others, supported deletion of “to cooperate.”
Several delegations, including SOUTH AFRICA, GRULAC and
MICRONESIA, opposed specifying “institutional infrastructure.”
THAILAND stressed imposing obligations on exporting parties.



Monday, 27 March 2000

Vol. 15 No. 34 Page 10

GRULA C supported requesting partiesto provide assistance to devel-
oping countriesand EIT countries, taking into account the particular
needs of these countriesin order to assist them to develop and
strengthen their capacities.

Regarding the chapeau introducing types of assistance, stating that
the assistance to be provided by developed country parties shall
include, inter alia, "as appropriate” and, "asmutually agreed," tech-
nical assistance for capacity building, JAPAN supported removing
bracketsfrom “asmutually agreed.” The PHILIPPINES said “ as mutu-
ally agreed” isameansto avoid obligations. NEW ZEALAND,
supported by JAPAN, the US, CANADA and the CZECH
REPUBLIC, proposed replacing “ developed country” with “devel -
oped country parties and other partiesin accordance with their capa-
bility.” The G-77/CHINA opposed this.

On assistance to identify and destroy existing stockpiles of obso-
lete POPs, ETHIOPIA preferred assistance “to identify, inventory and
destroy.” On assistanceto promote accessto and transfer of appro-
priate clean and environmentally sound technologies, the PHILIP-
PINES, supported by AUSTRALIA and opposed by BRAZIL, called
to delete the reference to access.

With regard to text on a Capacity Assistance Network (CAN),
COL OMBIA remarked that the concept merits discussion, but that
INC-4 isthefirst time such aproposal has been put forward and she
would prefer to postpone discussion to allow time for consideration of
thetopic. CANADA agreed that the proposal for the CAN is complex
dueto itsintent to coordinate the multiplicity of actionsbeing taken on
POPs with the needs of devel oping countries, and supported allowing
timefor thought, given the complexity and importance of the proposal.
Delegates agreed to bracket the text and to separate it from Article J
andcall it“Jhis.”

Thefinal revised text for Article Jcontains abroad obligation of
commitment, specific areas requiring assi stance and modalitiesfor
providing the assistance. Text requiring reconciliation with other arti-
clesisbracketed. The general obligation providesthat the parties
recognizethat rendering of timely and appropriate technical assistance
in response to requests from devel oping country partiesand EIT
partiesisessential to successful implementation of the convention. It
stipul ates that "[the developed country] parties shall [undertaketo]
[cooperate with] devel oping country partiesand partieswith EIT to
providetechnical assistance, taking into account their particular needs,
to devel op and strengthen their capacities.”

A chapeau introduces the specific areas requiring assi stance and
statesthat " provision of assistance by [developed country] partiesand
other partiesin accordance with their capability shall include, inter
alia, asappropriate, [and as mutually agreed], technical assistancefor
capacity buildingin those areas.

Thirteen types of technical assistance are listed under the chapeau.
The areaswithout brackets are:

» Review incooperation, asappropriate, with relevant international
organi zations, availableinfrastructure capacity and institutions at
different levelsand to examine needs and optionsfor strength-
ening them;

¢ Train decision makers, managersand personnel responsiblefor
the collection and analyses of dataregarding effects of POPsand
their alternatives, including with respect to collection and analysis
required by the harmonized global monitoring programme estab-
lished under Articlel;

 Assistindeveloping, implementing and enforcing regul atory
controls,

 Strengthen capacity to meet reporting requirementsunder Article
L;

* Promote awareness-raising and information-dissemination

programmes; and
 Effect atransitionto sustainableaternatives.

Thetypes of technical assistance containing internal and/or

externa bracketsare:

» Compileinventoriesand releaseregisters;

 Develop and strengthen training and research capacity at various
levelsfor monitoring POPsreleases, either “ maintaining efforts”’
towardsor “continuously” reducing or €liminating POPsuseand
promoting environmentally sound alternatives,

« |dentify, inventory and destroy existing stockpiles of obsolete
POPs,

* ldentify and premeditate sites affected by POPs;

« Facilitate private sector involvement; and

» Promoteaccessto and thetransfer of clean and environmentally
sound technol ogies and rel ated know-how and rights.

Regarding the modalitiesfor providing assistance, the text
provides "the parties shall establish arrangementsfor the purpose of
providing technical assistance [thetransfer of technologies] to devel -
oping countriesand EIT countries. [These arrangements shall include
regional and sub-regional centersfor capacity-building and transfer of
technology to assist developing country partiesand EIT parties]" It
also statesthat "[the national reporting under Article L shall include
information relevant to Article J simplementation]." Canada's
proposal for the CAN appearsin bracketsin thetext as“draft Article J
bis.” It providesthat the Secretariat shall, under supervision of the
CORP, perform aCAN function that shall:

* |dentify and maintain aninventory of sourcesof technical assis-
tanceavailablefor activitiesrelevant to the convention’simple-
mentation;

e Maintainaninventory of requests by devel oping country parties
and EIT partiesfor technical assistance under the convention;

* Asdist partiesto identify and give advice on the requirementsfor
accessing technical assistance sourcesand foster linkages between
theinventory of sourcesand requests;

¢ Maintaininformation on expertsin managing POPsand their
aternatives;

 Facilitate private sector and other NGO involvement in providing
technical assistance; and

* |dentify and alert the COPto requestsfor assi stance not being
met.

Inthefinal Plenary, CANADA, supported by the CZECH
REPUBLIC, proposed that the Secretariat conduct intersessional work
onthe cost of the CAN, with assistance from Canada.

FINANCIAL RESOURCESAND MECHANISMS
(ARTICLE K): On Monday and Tuesday, the |AG held general
discussion on acompilation text, which the |AG Bureau prepared at an
intersessional meeting based on country submissionsat INC-3 (UNEP/
POPS/INC.4/3). Debate centered on the two optionsfor afinancia
mechanism: use of existing mechanisms; or establishment of aninde-
pendent multilateral fund.

NIGERIA, on behalf of the G-77/CHINA, and supported by
SOUTH AFRICA, BRAZIL, ZAMBIA, INDIA, BURUNDI and
MICRONESIA, stressed establishment of anindependent multilateral
fund with regul ar and obligatory contributions from developed coun-
tries. Noting i nefficiencies associated with establishing anew mecha-
nism, the EU, the US, CANADA, JAPAN, NEW ZEALAND and
SLOVAKIA supported the use of existing mechanismsto facilitate
immediate funding and optimize synergies. The US cautioned that a
new fund could impederatification. The EU proposed that the GEF
act asthe mechanism. AUSTRALIA supported arolefor the GEF as
part of bilateral, multilateral and regional funding. TheUSand SWIT-
ZERLAND supported the GEF and other entities. Drawing attention



Voal. 15 No. 34 Page 11

Monday, 27 March 2000

to various organizations' POPs-related work, CANADA cautioned
that establishing a new mechanism may result in such organizations
ceasing POPs-related activities. The US suggested the Canadian-
proposed CAN coordinate afinancial mechanism comprised of oneor
more existing international entities. MICRONESI A supported expan-
sion of the CAN proposal to incorporate financial assistance. CAME-
ROON expressed caution over use of existing mechanisms, noting
many of them have ahistory of dictating how developing countries
usefunds. PAKISTAN, INDIA and MICRONESIA opposed using the
GEF, citing concernswith, inter alia, meeting the GEF's criteria, the
GEF'sincremental cost policy, and thelack of aprogrammeto address
POPswithin the GEF. CANADA stressed that the convention would
need to give the GEF direction on what isrequired.

On Wednesday, del egates began negotiating the draft text. Toa
paragraph on each party providing financial support and incentivesfor
national activities, the US proposed adding text stating “ devel oped
countriesshall al so seek to mobilizefinancial and additional resources
to assist parties from developing and EI T countriesin implementing
the convention.” After “developed countries,” NEW ZEALAND
added “ and other partiesin accordance with their capabilities.”
MICRONESIA opposed the language “ seek to” provide, and the
GAMBIA suggested “shall provide.” Delegates agreed to include the
proposal and these optionsin brackets.

In aparagraph on the COP promoting the availability of financial
resources and mechanisms, and encouraging the development of such
mechanisms, AUSTRALIA called to replace “ development” with

“strengthening.” The EU added text on arrangementsfor technical
assistance, and the GAMBIA opposed, stating the article should focus
on financial assistance. The EU proposal was retained with brackets.

On additional provision of financial resourcesthrough "bilateral,
regional and financial resources by developed country parties," NEW

ZEALAND specified “and other partiesin accordance with their capa-
bilities.” The G-77/CHINA called to bracket thisamendment.

CANADA, withthe G-77/CHINA, supported deleting arequire-
ment on developing partiesand El Tsto use national coordinating
mechanismsintegrated in national sustainable devel opment
programmesto ensure efficient use of financial resources. The EU

called for retention of the provision’sintent. The G-77/CHINA broad-
ened the requirement to apply to parties. With thisamendment, the
provision was bracketed. The G-77/CHINA proposed deleting a
requirement on partiesto take account of the specific needsand special
situation of |east developed countries. AUSTRALIA, supported by the
EU, opposed, and the provision was bracketed.

Onlanguage requiring the COPto review thefinancial mechanism,
the US supported requiring regular review, in order to provide recom-
mendations and guidance on improving effectiveness, and on the
possible extension of the financial mechanism’s scope. The EU advo-
cated regular review and appropriate action to improve effectivenessif
necessary. The G-77/CHINA supported review by the second COP
and subsequent regular reviewsto determine effectiveness and the
required level of funding. With regard to the optionsfor afunding
mechanism, the EU, the US and CANADA each requested that their
submissions on existing arrangements replace the current text, while
the G-77/CHINA advocated replacing the text for establishing an inde-
pendent fund with its proposal for Article K. The EU submission
establishesthe GEF as the mechanism; the Canadian submission
proposes the CAN; and the US advocates a coordinated approach
comprised of the CAN and existing entities. The G-77/Chinaproposal
establishes an independent multilateral fund consisting of regular and
obligatory contributions.

In Plenary on Friday, delegates continued negotiating the text and
debated two formulations on commitmentsto providing financial
assistance: thefirst stating devel oped countries shall provide devel-
oping and EIT countrieswith financial assistanceto implement the
convention; and the second stating devel oped countries, and other
partiesin accordance with their capabilities, shall seek to mobilize or
providefinancial and other resourcesto assist developing and EIT
countriesintheir implementation of theconvention. The G-77/CHINA
stressed theimportance of retaining thefirst option and objected to any
modificationstoit. The EU supported the second option. THAILAND
requested adding “ and exporting countries” to referencesto “devel-
oped countries’ throughout the article.

Delegates next considered the two options for amechanism: the
EU, CANADA and the US submissionsfor existing mechanismsand
the G-77/CHINA submission for establishing anew mechanism. Chair
Buccini called for clarification on the submissions' intent. CANADA,
recognizing additional resourceswill be required, supported using
existing mechanismsto build upon existing POPs activitiesand to
providefaster accessto funds. He noted CAN provisionsfor, inter alia:
aninventory of technical assistance sources and requests; advice on
reguirements for accessing sources; private sector involvement; and
identifying and reporting requests for assistance not being met to the
COP. The EU noted its support for strengthening existing mechanisms,
and said selecting the GEF isthe best way to secure implementation.
The US supported afinancial mechanism comprised of the CAN,
serving as abroker, and existing entities. He said the COP would
provide guidance to the mechanism and would, inter alia, identify
areaswherereguestsfor assistance are not being met and consider
policiesto strengthen existing funds. NIGERIA, BRAZIL, INDIA and
CHINA spoke on behalf of the G-77/CHINA, and underscored the
importance of establishing an independent multilateral fund.
NIGERIA challenged the contention that establishing anew mecha-
nism would be more costly and time consuming than restructuring the
GEF. BRAZIL, stressing that developing countrieswill not adopt an
instrument without provision of assistance, requested the EU to elabo-
rate on how it intendsto provide funds. INDIA emphasized that devel-
oping countries should be informed on what type of assistance will be
available. Noting the GEF Council decides how fundswill be spent,
CHINA asked who will guarantee that the GEF will direct sufficient
fundsto the POPs convention. SOUTH AFRICA said the CAN could
supplement the G-77/CHINA proposal.

The CZECH REPUBLIC, on behalf of the Central and Eastern
European region, supported using the GEF, rejected assertionsthat the
GEF isinefficient and slow, and supported the CAN. Chair Buccini
proposed that delegates either defer further work to INC-5 or establish
anintersessional group.

On Saturday, NIGERIA, the CZECH REPUBLIC, CANADA, the
EU and the US expressed support for an intersessional group. The G-
77ICHINA requested that its proposal not be altered. Chair Buccini
said theintent of the group would not beto redraft Article K, but rather
to prepare adocument to help guide delegatesto redraft ArticleK at
INC-5. He suggested, and del egates agreed to, the following participa-
tion formula: ten G-77/CHINA representatives; two representatives
from Eastern and Central Europe; and seven representatives of the
Western European and Others Group (WEOG). NEW ZEALAND,
supported by the EU, requested lifting brackets from a paragraph
stating countries should take full account of the specific needsand
special situation of least devel oped countriesin their funding. Dele-
gates agreed and the brackets were lifted.

Thedraft article statesthat "[devel oped countries shall provide
developing and EIT countrieswith financial assistancein order to
implement the convention.]" It further statesthat "each party, in accor-



Monday, 27 March 2000

Vol. 15 No. 34 Page 12

dance with its capabilities, shall undertaketo provide financial support
and incentivesfor national activitiesto achieve the convention’s objec-
tives. [In addition the devel oped country parties, and other partiesin
accordance with their capabilities shall also [seek to mobilize]
[provide] financial and other resourcesto assist developing and EIT
country partiesin their implementation of the convention.]” It contains
abracketed provision for the COPto "promote the availability of
financial resources[arrangementsfor technical assistance] and [to
encourage the devel opment and strengthening of such mechanismsto
maximize funding to assist developing country partiesand EIT parties
toimplement [their obligations deriving from] the convention].” It
containsthe EU, US, Canadian and G-77/Chinaproposalsfor amecha-
nism, aswell asthree options for text on reviewing the mechanism.

CONFERENCE OF THE PARTIES(ARTICLE O): On
Saturday, Chair Buccini asked del egates whether in principle they
would be ableto approvethetext for the article, as prepared by the
Legal Drafting Group. Some del egates opposed this and the report
reflectsthat thetext is post-legal, but not discussed in Plenary. Willis
drew attention to a submission by Canada, the US, Australiaand
Norway to add text regarding the establishment of a POPs Review
Committee, asreferenced in Article F, to thisarticle. Delegates agreed
toincorporate the text within the draft convention for consideration at
INC-5. ARGENTINA requested that the text be bracketed. The text
callsupon the COPto establish, at itsfirst meeting, aPOPsreview
committee comprised of alimited number of government-appointed
expertsin chemical assessment or management with equitable
geographical distribution.

SECRETARIAT (ARTICLE P): SWITZERLAND introduced a
German and Swiss submission for a proposed resol ution concerning
the Secretariat. She requested the text be annexed to the report of the
meeting. Regarding aprovision stating that UNEP will perform the
secretariat role, and that athree-fourths majority would be required to
entrust the Secretari at function to another international organization,
the PHILIPPINES requested that three-fourths majority be bracketed,
preferring asimple majority. ARGENTINA requested that the provi-
sion be bracketed. Delegates did not reach agreement onthearticleand
it will bediscussed at INC-5. Thereport reflectsthetext is post-legal
but has not been discussed in Plenary.

OTHER ARTICLES: On Saturday, Chair Buccini drew attention
to"routine" articlesthat the Legal Drafting Group had produced text
on, and invited the Plenary to take "ownership of them." Delegates
agreed to take ownership of thefollowing articles: Settlement of
Disputes (Article N); Amendmentsto the Convention (Article Q);
Right to Vote (Article S); Signature (Article T); Ratification, Accep-
tance, Approval or Accession (ArticleU); Entry into Force (ArticleV);
Withdrawal (Article X); the Depositary (Article Y); and Authentic
Texts (Article Z). Delegates did not approve thetext for the Adoption
and Amendment of Annexes (Article R). Articles on Reporting
(ArticleL) and Non-compliance (Article M) were not discussed. All of
these articleswill be open for consideration at INC-5.

CLOSING PLENARY

In Plenary on Saturday, COLOMBI A, supported by VENE-
ZUELA, submitted aproposal for an additional article onlighility and
compensation for damage resulting from the use and intentional or
unintentional introduction into the environment of POPs. The proposal
will be annexed to the report of the meeting. CANADA, speaking for
NORWAY and the EU, introduced a paragraph for inclusion under
control measures (Article D) on chemicalscurrently in use. TheUS
introduced proposal son; adjustment of schedulesin AnnexesA, B and
C when new information becomes available; and on adoption and
amendments of Annexes (ArticleR).

IRAN introduced a proposal on stockpilesfor inclusion under
ArticleD. The proposal will be annexed to thereport of the meeting.
SOUTH AFRICA confirmed that INC-5 will be held in Johannesburg
from 4-9 December 2000, and acknowledged the financial assistance
provided by Denmark. Willis confirmed that the Conference of the
Plenipotentiarieswill be held in Stockholm from 21-23 May 2001.
Thanking those who had provided financial contributionsfor the POPs
negotiations, he noted that the Secretariat is still US$600,000 short of
requirementsfor thefinal negotiationsand encouraged governmentsto
join the POPs Club.

Noting the limited time remaining for concluding the convention,
COLOMBIA, with SWITZERLAND, the DOMINICAN REPUBLIC,
CHILE and JAMAICA, called on Chair Buccini to clean up the text
prior to INC-5, focusing on organizational and editorial issues. Buccini
agreed, noting that hewould not deal with Article J(bis) or ArticleK
and that the draft convention text in the report of INC-4, would provide
the basisfor discussion at INC-5.

TheUSannounced that it will provide US$350,000 for aworkshop
and related projects on dioxins. The EU noted the need for further time
to evaluate Canada’s proposed global monitoring programme and
requested the Secretariat to analyze the concept for INC-5.

Buccini presented the report of the meeting, as contained in UNEP/
POPs/INC.4/L.1, Add.1, and Add.2. Buccini noted that a number of
paragraphsin the reports needed updating to reflect the most recent
discussions. He also said that all contact group reportswould be
attached to thereport of the meeting. The US noted inclusion of
general exemptionswithin the terms of reference of the contact group
on prohibition of the production and use of certain POPs, and on
restrictions of the production and use of certain POPs. Austriaqueried
thisand the Chair responded that theissue had beenimplicitly included
intheterms of reference. Thereport was amended to reflect this.

On financial mechanisms, the US added reference to the need to
mobilize new resources, and removed reference from the report to
possibly using anew mechanism other than CAN to broker financial
assistance. CHINA emphasized that the new mechanism must beinde-
pendent. Regarding reference to a representative speaking on behal f of
“alargenumber” of EIT countrieson financial assistance, POLAND
amended thisto “some.” On views expressed by NGOs, the INUIT
CIRCUMPOLAR CONFERENCE called for reference to the partici-
pation of representatives of indigenous peoples’ organizations. WWF
emphasized itsrequest to include the precautionary approach within
the criteriaregarding new POPs. The Plenary adopted the report with
all of these amendments.

Inclosing remarks, Chair Buccini noted that he had underestimated
the amount of time required for compl etion of negotiations and stated
that hewill be consulting with the Bureau and Secretariat on thisissue.
Hethanked the del egates, the contact group Chairs, the Legal Drafting
Group, and the Bureau of the IAG, and gavel ed the meeting to aclose
at 6:50 pm.

A BRIEF ANALYSISOF INC-4

A SENSE OF HISTORY

Delegates assembled for the penultimate INC in the Deutscher
Bundeshaus on Monday morning amidst an air of history, asthe INC
was the first meeting in the Bundeshaus since the German Govern-
ment’srelocation to Berlin. Under the Chair’swatchwords of open-
ness, transparency, inclusiveness and accountability, delegates drew
support and inspiration from theinnovative architecture of the Deut-
scher Bundeshaus, whichisbuilt mainly of glass, letting the sun'slight
pour into the conference room and allowing del egatesto look at the
Rhinewhile negotiating. Overlooking the Rhine, vehicle of the Sandoz



Voal. 15 No. 34 Page 13

Monday, 27 March 2000

chemical disaster, the venue served also as apoignant reminder of the
need for bold environmental policy-making. Contributing to the buoy-
ancy provided by the light and water, there was an overwhelming
feeling of opportunity for delegatesto write or wrong history.

JUSCANZ SAYSWE “JUST CAN'T”

For many observers, akey measure of the success of theweek’s
negotiationsisthe extent to which progress has been madein final-
izing text on committing partiesto the ultimate elimination of POPs.
Delegates arrived in Bonn firmly entrenched in their positions, but by
mid-week, it seemed asif some had begun to climb towards middle
ground on elimination.

Discussion on elimination prompted some of the week’s most
lively interactions, and provided fodder to speculate on the devel op-
ment of unconventional aliances, and new divisions, within and
between negotiating blocs. The most ardent callsto removereference
to elimination came from JUSCANZ members, prompting Green-
peace I nternational to make aspirited interjectioninwhich, breaking
the convention against naming parties, he accused JUSCANZ of
basing itsarguments “on political rather then technical consider-
ations.” A discordant, but potentially influential voice from among the
G-77/CHINA, was provided by South Africa, who played an impor-
tant rolein drafting compromisetext that providesfor the ultimate
elimination of by-product POPswhere feasible. With certain
JUSCANZ delegates subsequently opening the door to the possibility
of aqualified commitment to the elimination of POPs, it is anticipated
that there will belively exchangesat INC-5 on the exact scope of this
qualifier. With some del egations calling for technical and economical
feasibility, others maintain that practical feasibility isacore aspect.
One participant noted that any qualification must be vague enough so
all parties can interpret the term to their liking. Not surprisingly, some
say qualification could provide aloopholeto fulfilling obligations.

The degree of progresstoward resolution of thisissue will reveal
thewillingness of delegationsto respond to Jamaica’s challengeto
write history by setting their sights on what some saw astheimpos-
sible: achieving the ultimate elimination of POPs. Recalling alesson
that hisdaughter had been recently taught at school, the Jamaican dele-
gate stated that “thelittle girl who says| can’t, getsthe bottom spot.” It
remainsto be seen whether JUSCANZ will chooseto say “I can.”

I1S*“CAN” ENOUGH?

Throughout INC-4 it became clear that requestsfor commitments
on control measures were met by devel oping country reminders that
they cannot take on such obligations without solid commitment from
developed countriesto provide adequate and timely fundsto imple-
ment the convention. Not surprisingly, devel oping and devel oped
countries positionsin the debate on afinancial mechanismwere
polarized, with devel oping countries clamoring for an independent
financial mechanism, ideally similar to that of the Montreal Protocol
Multilateral Fund, while devel oped countries emphasized the use of
exi sting mechanisms. The EU suggested funds through the GEF, and
Canada proposed the Capacity Assistance Network (CAN), a
brokering mechanism, whilethe US preferred ahybrid. The G-77/
Chinaexpressed frustration at the lack of “meat” in the proposal's, and
voiced distrust that the GEF could adequately meet the needs of devel-
oping countries. Asone participant noted, these proposalswere only
"assurances” that funds' can" be met, but not concrete commitments,
leaving devel oping countries saying "can is not enough.

Delegates are cognizant of the fact that past baggage surrounding
thetopic of finance necessitates ameasured and cautious approach.
For example, one delegate’ srequest to add text referring to parties
other than devel oped country parties providing assi stance in accor-
dance with their capacity, isreminiscent of the negotiation of the

Convention to Combat Desertification where thislanguage delayed
and almost prevented the treaty's adoption. While delegates are far
from agreement, many characterized the debate on the financial mech-
anism as astep forward, with del egations airing the intentions behind
their proposal s and i dentifying the gaps that need to be bridged. There
isgeneral confidencethat theissuewill beresolved at INC-5, and the
provision for intersessional work on the topic should provide away
forward. Many observersfeel that the Canadian-proposed CAN could
provide auseful step forward. The concept generated strong support,
with several devel oping countries expressing interest in the possibility
of the CAN augmenting an independent fund.

IN A DARK ROOM WITHOUT ALIGHT?

One of the stated objectives of INC-4 wasto end theweek with a
complete, and relatively clean, negotiating text. If thiswasthe sole
criterion for eval uating the success of the negotiations, then del egates
may have causeto feel disappointed. While useful progresswas made
onthetext of anumber of articles— such asthose on national imple-
mentation plans, information exchange, publicinformation and aware-
ness, and research and devel opment — there was insufficient
opportunity to discuss other key articles, including the preamble,
objectives and definitions. Tradeisanother issuethat will certainly be
brought to the foreground given the precursor of the EU'sintroduction
of the concept of trade with non-parties.

Of greater concern though, wasthe failureto fully realize the
opportunity to achieve closure on certain issues, including the prohibi-
tion of new POPs. In thewords of one observer: “if the bathisover-
flowing, thefirst stepisto turn off thetap.” This concern was not
shared by others, one of whom suggested that thereis*little out there
beyond the dirty dozen.”

Despite securing broad agreement on the criteria set out by the
CEG for identifying new POPs, discord persistson thecriteriafor
persistencein water and for bioaccumul ation of aquatic species. The
divideisquite clear, with the EU and devel oping countries generally
supporting lower thresholdsfor action, and JUSCANZ higher.

Thisdivision between the negotiating blocswas similarly reflected
in discussions on the Precautionary Principle. Seemingly determined
toignore the euphoriawith the recent completed Biosafety Protocol in
Montreal, where the Precautionary Principleisin thetext, JUSCANZ
and the Russian Federation were again in the minority in advocating
removal of reference to the Precautionary Principle, deferring instead
to the precedent set by the Rotterdam Convention, whereit isincluded
inthe preamble. Thisissuewill cometo theforeinthe debate on
applying scientific criteriafor new substances at INC-5. The antipathy
of some delegationsto applying this "vague and ambiguous" principle
isreflected inthewords of the Russian delegate: “if we areto include
the Precautionary Principlein thetext, then wewill find ourselvesina
dark room without alight.”

"THE FUTURE ISIN YOUR HANDS"

During the course of the week’s deliberations, del egateswere
reminded by NGO representatives, on more than one occasion, that
“thefutureisinyour hands.” Assessing the extent to which INC-4 took
advantage of itsopportunity to write history, delegates may well award
themsel ves amixed scorecard.

While some observers may feel that INC-4 was defined by insuffi-
cient clearance of the drafting text, and as amissed opportunity to
resolve controversial issues, there was broad agreement that anumber
of useful conceptual advances had been attained. Many del egatesfelt
that the depth of discussion hasimproved, that negotiation stances are
more clearly defined, and that the door for compromiseisnow gjar.



Monday, 27 March 2000

Vol. 15 No. 34 Page 14

Expectations are high that progress can be made during the interses-
sional discussions, particularly with regard to resolving issueson
financial resources.

Thereisno doubt that the challenges ahead are daunting, and, asis
the casein negotiations, the most challenging issuesto resolve arethe
ones |eft to the final hour as countries put their cardson thetable. It
remainsto be seen whether the potential obstacleswill be effectively
overcome at the INC-5 negotiationsin Johannesburg or if the thorniest
political issueswill beleft for the Diplomatic Conference. Some even
suggest there may be an INC-6 back to back with the Diplomatic
Conferencein May 2001. If the venue of thisweek’s meeting symbol-
ized transparency, asense of history, and the provision of light for the
task ahead, then thelocation of INC-5 bodeswell. Where el se can one
find the spirit of compromise and persistence that is necessary for the
successful resolution of separate positionsthan in South Africa?

THINGSTO LOOK FOR BEFORE INC-5

UNEPWORKSHOP ON INVENTORY OF STOCKPILES
OF OBSOLETE PESTICIDES: Thisworkshop will be held from
29-31 March 2000, in Voronezh, Russia. For moreinformation,
contact: UNEP Chemicals (IRPTC); tel: +41 (22) 979-9111; fax: +41
(22) 797-3460; e-mail: Murray Newton at mnewton@unep.ch or Heidi
Fiedler at hfiedler@unep.ch; Internet: http://irptc.unep.ch/pops

UNEP WORKSHOPSON MANAGEMENT OF DIOXINS/
FURANS, PCBs: Workshopswill be held in: Yaounde, Cameroon,
from 17-21 April 2000; Dubrovnik, Croatia, from 22-26 May 2000
(tentative); 12-15 June 2000 in Seoul, Republic of Korea; 24-28 June
2000in Iran; Montevideo or Puntadel Este, Uruguay, from 18-22
September 2000; and Arusha, Tanzania, from 9-13 October. For more
information, contact: UNEP Chemicals (IRPTC); tel: +41 (22) 979-
9111, fax: +41 (22) 797-3460; e-mail: Murray Newton at
mnewton@unep.ch or Heidi Fiedler at hfiedler@unep.ch; Internet:
http://irptc.unep.ch/pops

EIGHTH SESSION OF THE COMMISSION ON SUSTAIN-
ABLE DEVELOPMENT: CSD-8will meetin New York from 24
April - 5May 2000, to consider integrated planning and management
of land resources, agriculture, and financial resources/trade and invest-
ment/economic growth. For more information, contact: Andrey Vasi-
lyev, Division for Sustainable Development; tel: +1-212-963-5949;
fax: +1-212-963-4260; e-mail: vasilyev@un.org; Internet: http://
www.un.org/esa/sustdev/csd8/csd8_2000.htm

UNEP WORKSHOP ON NATIONAL CHEMICAL LEGIS
LATION FOR CISCOUNTRIES: Thisworkshopistentatively
scheduled for 22-25 May 2000, in Novgorod, Russia. For moreinfor-
mation, contact: UNEP Chemicals (IRPTC); tel: +41 (22) 979-9111,
fax: +41(22) 797-3460; e-mail: Murray Newton at mnewton@unep.ch
or Heidi Fiedler at hfiedler@unep.ch; Internet: http://irptc.unep.ch/
pops

THE FIFTH CONSULTATION ON THE PREVENTION
AND DISPOSAL OF OBSOLETE AND UNWANTED STOCKS
OF PESTICIDES: Thismeeting isscheduled for May 2000, in Rome,
to consider new provisionsfor the prevention and disposal of obsolete
stocks and to update/prepare various technical guidelinesin support of
the FAO Code of Conduct. For information, contact: Ale Wodageneh,
FAO; tel: +39 (6) 5705 5192; fax: +39 (6) 5705 6347; e-mail:

A .Wodageneh@fao.org; Internet: http://www.fao.org/ag/agp/agpp/
pesticid/Disposal /default.htm

FAO GROUP ON REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS: The
16th session of the FAO Group on Registration Requirementswill be
held from 22-29 May 2000, in Grenada, Spain, and will prepare FAO
Specifications under the new procedure for arange of individual pesti-
cides. The 17th session will be held from 26-30 June 2000, in Rome,
and will consult on the progress of the revision of the International
Code of Conduct onthe Distribution and Use of Pesticidesand prepare
recommendations on proceduresfor the preparation and revision of
guidelinesand for the revision of the Code. For information, contact:
Gero Vaagt, FAO; tel: +39 (6) 5705 5757; fax: +39 (6) 5705 6347; e-
mail: Gero.Vaagt@fao.org; Internet: http://www.fao.org/ag/agp/agpp/
pesticid/default.ntm

UNEP REGIONAL WORKSHOP ON ALTERNATIVESTO
POPSPESTICIDES: Thisworkshop istentatively scheduled for 4-7
July 2000, in St. Petersburg, Russia. For more information, contact:
UNEP Chemicals (IRPTC); tel: +41 (22) 979-9111; fax: +41 (22) 797-
3460; e-mail: Murray Newton at mnewton@unep.ch or Heidi Fiedler
at hfiedler@unep.ch; Internet: http://irptc.unep.ch/pops

25TH SESSION OF THE JOINT MEETING ON PESTI -
CIDESRESIDUES: The 25th Joint Meeting of the FAO Panel of
Experts on Pesticides Residuesin Food and the Environment and the
WHO Expert Group on Pesticides Residueswill be held from 11-29
September 2000, in Geneva. For information, contact: AmeliaTejada,
FAO; tel: +39 (6) 5705 4010; fax: +39 (6) 5705 6347; e-mail:

Amelia. Tejada@fao.org; Internet: http://www.fao.org/ag/agp/agpp/
pesticid/default.ntm

GOVERNMENT CONSULTATION ON THE REVISION OF
THE FAO CODE OF CONDUCT: Thisconsultation istentatively
scheduled for 2-6 October 2000, in Rome and will consider the draft
revised FAO Code of Conduct on Distribution and Use of Pesticides.
For more information, contact: Niek Van der Graaf, FAO; tel: +39 (6)
5705 3441; fax: +39 (6) 5705 6347; e-mail: Niek.Vander-

Graaf @fao.org; Internet: http://www.fao.org/ag/agp/agpp/pesticid/
Code/PM_Code.htm

THIRD MEETING OF THE INTERNATIONAL FORUM
ON CHEMICAL SAFETY: TheThird Meeting of the International
Forum on Chemical Safety will be held from 14-20 October 2000, in
Salvador (Balina), Brazil. For moreinformation, contact: Executive
Secretary, | ntergovernmental Forum on Chemical Safety; tel: +41 (22)
791 3650/4333; fax: +41 (22) 791 4875; e-mail: ifcs@who.ch;
Internet; http://www.ifcs.ch

SEVENTH PIC INC MEETING: The seventh session of the PIC
INC will be held from 30 October — 3 November 2000, in Genevato
prepare the Conference of the Partiesto the Rotterdam Convention.
For more information, contact: Niek Van der Graaf, FAO; tel: +39 (6)
5705 3441; fax: +39 (6) 5705 6347; e-mail: Niek.Vander-

Graaf @fao.org; Internet: http://www.pic.int/

PERSISTANT ORGANIC POLLUTANTSINC-5: Thefifth
session of the Intergovernmental Negotiation Committee for an Inter-
national Legally Binding Instrument for Implementing International
Action on Certain Persistent Organic Pollutants (INC-4) will take
place from 4-9 December 2000, in Johannesburg, South Africa. The
Conference of the Plenipotentiarieswill be held in Stockholm from 21-
23 May 2001. For moreinformation, contact: UNEP Chemicals
(IRPTC); tel: +41 (22) 979-9111; fax: +41 (22) 797-3460; e-mail:
dodgen@unep.ch; Internet: http://irptc.unep.ch/pops/



